21-00112-UT; Filing Submission

Fri 10/15/2021 5:33 PM

To: Records, PRC, PRC < PRC.Records@state.nm.us>

1 attachments (833 KB)

21-00112-UT, Notice of Filing of Report from Strategen Consulting and Agenda for Third Workshop.pdf;

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMMISSION'S ADOPTION OF RULES
)
PURSUANT TO THE COMMUNITY SOLAR ACT
) Docket No. 21-00112-UT

Please file the attached <u>NOTICE OF FILING OF REPORT FROM STRATEGEN CONSULTING AND AGENDA FOR THIRD WORKSHOP</u> into the above captioned case.

Thank you,

Isaac Sullivan-Leshin

Paralegal for Office of General Counsel



New Mexico Public Regulation Commission PO Box 1269 Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504-1269 isaac.sullivan-leshin@state.nm.us

Phone: (505) 670-4830

BEFORE THE NEW MEXICO PUBLIC REGULATION COMMISSION

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMMISSION'S ADOPTION)	
OF RULES PURSUANT TO THE COMMUNITY SOLAR)	Docket No. 21-00112-UT
ACT)	

NOTICE OF FILING OF REPORT FROM STRATEGEN CONSULTING AND AGENDA FOR THIRD WORKSHOP

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the following attached Report from Strategen Consulting and Agenda for Third Workshop will be placed in the New Mexico Public Regulation Commission's official file in Case 21-00112-UT. The Notice will be sent to all those shown on the following attached Certificate of Service.

DATED this 15th day of October, 2021.

NEW MEXICO PUBLIC REGULATION COMMISSION

/s/ Isaac Sullivan-Leshin, electronically signed
Isaac Sullivan-Leshin, Paralegal
Isaac.sullivan-leshin@state.nm.us

NEW MEXICO PUBLIC REGULATION COMMISSION



NOTICE OF COMMUNITY SOLAR IMPLEMENTATION WORKSHOP Tuesday, October 19th, 2021 10:00 a.m. MEETING TAKING PLACE THROUGH ZOOM ONLY

Agenda for Community Solar Implementation Workshop #3, October 19, 2021

Any person who may wish to participate in the workshop must notify the Zoom host, Isaac Sullivan-Leshin, no later than **12:00 noon on Monday, October 18, 2021** by sending an email to <u>isaac.sullivan-leshin@state.nm.us</u> that lists the name, email and organization (if applicable) of each person who wishes to participate.

10:00 am – 10:15 am	Welcome and Proceeding Status Commissioner Joseph Maestas
10:15 am – 11:30 am	Review of Stakeholder Advisory Process and Report
	Matthew McDonnell, Strategen, LLC
11:30 am – 12:15 pm	Unresolved Issues and Discussion Arthur O'Donnell, PRC
12:15 – 12:30 pm	break
12:30 pm – 1 pm	NOPR process and schedule Russell Fisk, PRC Office of the General Counsel
	Q&A as needed after each segment

October 2021

New Mexico Community Solar — Stakeholder Participation
Pre-Rulemaking Status Report

June-October 2021





Prepared for the New Mexico Public Regulation Commission (NM PRC)

YOUR PARTNER IN THE ENERGY TRANSITION

New Mexico Community Solar Rulemaking Working Group Report

Prepared for:



New Mexico Public Regulation Commission PO Box 1269 Santa Fe, New Mexico 87504

Prepared by:



Strategen Consulting, LLC 2150 Allston Way, Suite 210 Berkeley, California 94704 www.strategen.com

Matt McDonnell Maggie Field Thanh Nguyen

Disclaimers

Strategen Disclaimer

Strategen Consulting LLC developed this report based on information received by CESA. The information and findings contained herein are provided as-is, without regard to the applicability of the information and findings for a particular purpose. References herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by Strategen Consulting LLC.

Contents

Ξ	xecutive Summary	5
	Process Design Rulemaking Schedule Topic Coverage, Subgroups & Meeting Design Working Group Participation Working Group Structure Working Group Facilitation Working Group Wrap-Up & Final Comments	5 7 8
	Scope of this Effort	9
	Discussion Topic Outcomes: Recommendations for Commission Consideration & Stakeholder Position Summaries	9
	Topic #1: Process for Selection of Community Solar Project Approval	10 12
	Topic #2: Allocation Of 200 MW Program Cap Among IOUs	17
	Topic #3: Determining and Applying the Value of Solar Credits Per Rate Class	19
	Topic #4: Calculation and Application of 3% Limitation on Cross-Subsidization	22
	Topic #5: Guidelines for the Siting and Co-Location of CS Projects with Other Energy Resource	
	Recommendations for Commission Consideration: Summary of Stakeholder Comments:	24
	Topic #6: Criteria for Low-Income Customer Definition, Subscriber Eligibility & Verification, Pre Qualification	25 25
	Topic #7: Subscriber Eligibility Criteria	28 28
	Topic #8: Uniform disclosure form identifying info from a subscriber organization to a potential subscriber	30

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:	30
Topic #9: Any potential limitations on use of RECs by utilities (i.e., can they be sold	or
transferred)	
Recommendations for Commission Consideration:	31
Summary of Stakeholder Comments:	32
Topic #10: Establishing criteria for registration of Subscriber Organizations (owners	
Recommendations for Commission Consideration:	
Summary of Stakeholder Comments:	
Other Issues Raised by Stakeholders	34

Executive Summary

On April 5, 2021, the New Mexico Legislature passed the Community Solar Act (SB 84), establishing community solar in the state. Considered to be a landmark program, SB84 aligns with New Mexico's greater plan to transition away from its historical use of fossil fuels, decrease emissions, and achieve its recently implemented renewable energy standard of 50% by 2030. The Community Solar Act (CSA) also holds a potentially material financial value proposition for New Mexico, with a projected substantial boost to the state economy of \$517 million in economic benefits, and \$147 million in labor income, according to a study by the University of New Mexico's Bureau of Business and Economic Research. Designed with energy justice principles in mind, the program is further intended to extend the benefits of renewable energy in an equitable manner, with a mandate requiring that 30 percent of each community solar facility serve low-income households, and special allowances and benefits for tribal communities integrated within the policy.

To implement the Community Solar Act SB84, the New Mexico Public Regulation Commission (NM PRC) is required to approve and establish policies for a 200 MW Community Solar Access program. In an effort to achieve the complex task of determining multiple crucial aspects of the program, the Commission sought to host an innovative stakeholder engagement process alongside their traditional rulemaking procedure, as a means of soliciting input on the rules and design of the program, and to seek alignment amongst a diverse set of key stakeholders – utilities, developers, project sponsors, low-income advocates, clean energy interest groups, among others.

In April 2021, the Commission engaged Strategen to manage and facilitate a critical portion of this working group process, from July to October 2021. This report is intended to summarize the outcomes of this working group process, identifying areas of alignment among stakeholder positions thus far in the process, and to provide option recommendations and general guidance to the Commission on key aspects of the SB84 program design.

Process Design

Rulemaking Schedule

The working group process was designed in accordance with the official rulemaking schedule set by the Commission. Following a stakeholder kick off meeting hosted by the Commission on June 24, 2021, Strategen was tasked with: (1) hosting and facilitating a series of virtual working group meetings; and (2) developing a working group report at the conclusion of the working group series to provide, as a way to summarize the working group activity and to help inform a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NOPR) to be issued by the Commission in November 2021.



Topic Coverage, Subgroups & Meeting Design

To inform the dialogue of the working group process, the Commission provided Strategen with a list of eighteen (18) items ('Exhibit A') of programmatic topic areas outlined by the CSA - in the general categories of consumer protection, ratemaking, and market oversight - to be addressed in the working group process as a means of soliciting stakeholder input on the CSA program and policy design. In consideration of the time frame given to achieve these tasks, Strategen focused in on 10 key priority topics identified to be of highest importance to the outcome and success of the CSA to inform the working group discussions.

Strategen then grouped the 10 prioritized topics into two categories, and created subgroups associated with each:

- 1) Subgroup A: Market Oversight
- 2) Subgroup B: Consumer Protection & Ratemaking

With the creation of subgroups according to topic category, Strategen then scheduled three stakeholder meetings, each composed of two separate subgroup meetings, with below associated topic designations:

Meeting #1: July 22, 8:30am - 12:45pm MT

- Subgroup A (8:30-10:30am):
- Approving a process for selection of CS project proposals
- Subgroup B (10:45am-12:45pm):
- Determining and applying the value of solar credits per rate class

Meeting #2: August 5, 9am-12:15pm MT



- Subgroup A (9-10:30am):
- Guidelines governing the siting and co-location of CS projects with other energy resources
- Criteria for LI definition and LI Subscriber eligibility and verification; prequalification of LI Subscribers
- Subgroup B (10:45am-12:15pm):
- Subscriber eligibility criteria & mechanisms for community outreach
- Interpret how the 3 percent limitation on cross subsidization is calculated and applied
- Develop and approve a uniform disclosure form that identifies the information that shall be provided by a subscriber organization to a potential subscriber

Meeting #3: Sept. 2, 9am-12:15pm MT

- Subgroup A (9-10:30am):
- Allocation of the 200 MW annual program capacity cap among IOUs
- Any potential limitations on use of RECs by utilities (i.e., can they be sold or transferred)
- Subgroup B (10:45-11:30am):
- · Check in on utility data request for Subgroup B: informing the CS bill credit rate development and distribution costs
- Subscriber eligibility: need to define small commercial customers
- Establishing criteria for registration of Subscriber Organizations (owners of projects)

Following the conclusion of the final subgroup meetings on September 2, 2021, Strategen also hosted a wrap-up meeting where both subgroups participated in a review of discussion topics in all working group meetings and evaluated possible outcome pathways identified to that point in the process.

Working Group Participation

There was robust participation and engagement in the working group process across all three meetings. Below is a list of organizations who registered and participated in the working group process:

- Affordable Solar
- Amp Energy
- Arcadia
- Bernalillo County Democratic Ward 17B
- Calvert Energy LLC
- CCSA
- Chaberton Energy
- City of Albuquerque
- City of Las Cruces
- Clear Energy Solar
- Coalition of Sustainable Communities New Mexico
- Community Energy Solar
- Con Edison Clean Energy Businesses
- Cypress Creek Renewables
- Dimension Energy
- EDF
- El Paso Electric
- Forefront
- Galehead Development

- GRID Alternatives
- ICAST
- Impact Power Solutions
- Nautilus Solar Energy LLC
- New Mexico Public Regulation Commission
- New Mexico Rural Electric Cooperative Association
- Nexamp
- Omni Navitas Holdings LLC
- Osceola Inc., DBA OE Solar
- PACE Fund NM
- Pivot Energy
- Public Service of New Mexico
- Renewable Energy Industry Association of New Mexico
- Renewable Properties
- RIC Energy US
- SGC Power
- Sierra Club
- SolarStone Development LLC



- Somos Solar
- Sovereign Energy Initiatives
- SPS
- State Land Office New Mexico
- SunVest Solar LLC

- SynerGen Solar, LLC
- US Solar
- Vote Solar
- Wilkinson Barker Knauer, LLP
- Yellow Bird Services, LLC

Working Group Structure

Conscious of the large number of participants in the working group, and given a desire to create a format that permitted all voices to be heard, Strategen designed a participation platform where each organization was allowed to designate one "Point of Contact" (POC) for each subgroup, who would participate and serve as the primary voice on behalf of the entire organization. Strategen worked with participants when necessary to make reasonable exceptions to this rule, such as allowing subs when certain POCs were unable to attend a specific meeting.

All meetings were virtual and took place on Microsoft Teams. To support communications and execute on the meeting invites, Strategen also set up a dedicated, temporary email account to serve the working group process.

Throughout the working group process, stakeholders were also provided access to a shared working folder and resource library set up by the Strategen team. This shared working folder and resource library included relevant reading materials on other state community solar programs, information on meeting scheduling and agendas, notes and presentations from the three meetings, and other information documents relevant to the working group process.

Working Group Facilitation

Strategen prepared a customized agenda for each of the working group meetings. To help approach each of the discussion topics with a common context and understanding, Strategen facilitators first provided an overview of the topic, and shared some foundational context-setting specific to the topic at hand, often integrating and referencing examples from other state community solar programs. Strategen also integrated key discussion questions and highlighted critical considerations as necessary, to guide the group's attention and dialogue to the main issues at hand. Following the topic overview, Strategen then facilitated a group dialogue, where attendees had the floor to make their comments, raise questions, and respond to each other. To efficiently moderate the group, stakeholders were asked to use the 'raise hand' function within Microsoft Teams, and then were called on in order to make their comments to the group.

Working Group Wrap-Up & Final Comments

Concluding the final working group meetings and wrap-up session on September 2, 2021, Strategen encouraged all stakeholders to submit final comments and position statements by September 16, 2021. In consideration of final comment submissions, Strategen further provided a document outlining specific guidance and requirements, highlighting key options/outcomes for each topic based on what emerged

in the discussions with participants in the three working group meetings, as well as stakeholder comments that had been submitted previously throughout the working group process. All stakeholders who participated in the working group process were invited and encouraged to submit final comments. Stakeholders were further encouraged to consolidate their submissions, and to submit joint submissions where possible.

Strategen communicated to all stakeholders that the highlighted options/outcomes were by no means intended to preclude or restrict participants from including or referencing other options in their final comments, but merely to serve as a guide to note areas where the majority of participants were observed to agree or disagree, and encourage participants to better align their final comments with options that currently appear to have the most support.

Final submitted written comments and position statements were reviewed by the Strategen team, and synthesized into this Working Group Report, which was then circulated to participants for review and comment.

Scope of this Effort

Please note the completion of the Working Group Report is just one milestone in the Rulemaking Process and does not foreclose further opportunities for stakeholders to provide input during the rulemaking process. The Working Group Report does, however, mark the formal conclusion of Strategen's role in the rulemaking process as a client of the Commission. Although the working group process evoked substantial feedback, position statements and input from stakeholders, the overall working group process was necessarily condensed due to timing and scheduling constraints driven by rulemaking requirements and the need to have a community solar rule in place by April 2022.

Discussion Topic Outcomes: Recommendations for Commission Consideration & Stakeholder Position Summaries

This next section reviews each of the 10 discussion topics addressed in the working group process. Each topic section will provide:

- 1. Recommendations and option pathways to the Commission for moving forward on a decision on the topic
- 2. A synthesis and summary of key stakeholder comments on position statements that informed the recommendations made to the Commission.

The topics are addressed in the following order:

- Topic #1: Process for Selection of Community Solar (CS) Project Proposals
- **Topic #2**: Allocation of 200 MW Program Cap among IOUs
- **Topic #3**: Determining and Applying the Value of Solar Credits Per Rate Class

- **Topic #4**: Calculation and Application of 3% Limitation on Cross-Subsidization
- **Topic #5**: Guidelines for the Siting and Co-Location of CS Projects with Other Energy Resources
- **Topic #6**: Criteria for Low-Income Customer Definition, Subscriber Eligibility & Verification, Pre-Qualification
- **Topic #7**: Subscriber Eligibility Criteria
- **Topic #8**: Uniform disclosure form identifying info from a subscriber organization to a potential subscriber
- **Topic #9**: Any potential limitations on use of RECs by utilities (i.e., can they be sold or transferred)
- Topic #10: Establishing criteria for registration of Subscriber Organizations (owners of projects)

Topic #1: Process for Selection of Community Solar Project Approval Recommendations for Commission Consideration:

In consideration of Topic #1, Process for Selection of Community Solar Project Proposals, the Commission should consider use of a Non-Price RFP selection process to assign program capacity to specific community solar projects. This recommendation comes through a majority consensus in the working group process and is also expressed through final stakeholder comments, with written support for this approach from Coalition for Community Solar Access, Coalition of Sustainable Communities New Mexico, GRID Alternatives, Solar Energy Industries Association, and Vote Solar (collectively the "Joint Commenters"), as well as parties who formally endorsed the positions of the Joint Commenters -

- Chaberton Energy, Nautilus Solar, Omni Navitas Holdings LLC, SunShare, and Sunvest. Further support is observed in written comments from two of the three utilities (EPE and SPS), REIA NM, The City of Las Cruces, The Bernalillo County Democratic Ward 17B ("Ward 17B"), Cypress Creek Renewables (CCR), and Yellow Bird Services (YBS).

The Commission is further advised to develop guidance on key considerations for the Non-Price RFP administration and bidding process, and to identify a set of criteria to evaluate bid requirements, including a list of minimum thresholds to submit a bit for consideration. **Based on stakeholder important through the working group, we have highlighted more specific detailed recommendations in these categories for the Commission's review in below sections.**

The Strategen team acknowledge that each of the three utilities did not fully embrace a Non-Price RFP process, with EPE and SPS favoring both price and non-price criteria, arguing that price criteria would minimize the 'variable' costs of project interconnection costs. EPE further advocated for a Commission-issued RFP to landowners for land availability and leasing prices, in an effort to avoid feeder saturation and level the cost of land. For PNM, they favored a hybrid first-come, first-serve Small Generator Interconnection Procedures (SGIP) process, with the intention of project preference going to those that have received a queue assignment in SGIP. In consideration of these utility positions, it is clear across the board that there are major concerns about how community solar projects will be managed through the interconnection processes. Considering that interconnection was not a specific focus for this stakeholder

working group series, and that there is a separate working group process specifically focused on interconnection issues, it is our recommendation that the Commission may be best positioned to handle final decisions on interconnection outside of the RFP process.

The Strategen team further flags for the Commission the need for more holistic determination on the design of the interconnection process, and how interconnection costs may be handled in the program. Regardless, it is clear there is a lot of value in ensuring each project has demonstrated a minimum threshold of viability before entering the interconnection queue, and we encourage the Commission to continue to collaborate with stakeholders on best practices to ensure such an outcome. Experience across other jurisdictions has shown that the interconnection process and queue management is critical path for the enablement of a successful community solar program. Finally, in response to EPE's proposal on the use of a landowner RFP, the Strategen team appreciates the spirit and purpose by which this approach was offered. That said, we share stakeholder concerns that EPE's suggestion may create unintended consequences, including the possibility of inflating land costs as a result of the landowner RFP.

Administration of Non-Price RFP:

The exact format for the administration and management of the bidding process for the Non-Price RFP requires further attention from the Commission and key stakeholders, as it was not a central discussion topic covered in the working group process. Stakeholders submitted recommendations on these aspects of their RFP in their comments. There did seem to be some foundational support in favor of a third-party administrator, including from the Joint Commenters, REIA NM, Sovereign Energy, and Dimension Energy. The Joint Commenters have also included more detailed recommendations on administration and management of the RFP process in their comments. There was also stakeholder support for a fee/deposit structure to support administrative costs of the RFP. This fee may be partially or fully refundable, depending on if a project enters the interconnection queue.

In order to ensure an unbiased and non-discriminatory selection process, the Strategen team recommends the Commission consider process administration via the use of: (1) an independent observer; or (2) a third-party administrator.

Minimum Bid Requirements Considerations:

After synthesizing stakeholder comments, the Strategen team recommends that the Commission consider criteria for minimum bid requirements in the categories of:

- Legally binding site control
- Commitment to meeting or exceeding all statutory subscriber requirements, including a minimum 30% low-income subscription requirement. Heavier weighting preference for projects that exceed the 30% low-income carve-out/serve higher percentage of LI residents
- Non-ministerial permits to be either in hand, line of sight, or evidence that permits are not required
- Benefits to the local and New Mexico community:
 - Resident business and resident veteran business pursuant to Section 13-1-21 NMSA 1978

- General preference to projects supporting local businesses or employing local labor and NM-based partners
- Workforce training and/or educational opportunities for disenfranchised groups;
 utilization of racial minority/women/veteran owned/operated businesses
- Provide local job training or commit to long term jobs in New Mexico
- Outreach and partnership with local communities, community-based project ownership

Scoring Criteria:

- Project viability:
 - Project economics: system output, system size, guaranteed subscriber savings
 - Financial strength and viability, financing plan and evidence of funding
 - Developer experience with community solar and subscriber acquisition and management, experiencing building and operating solar projects of similar size
 - State of project development and schedule
 - Interconnection viability
 - Permitting due diligence and compliance with environmental laws
 - Familiarity with local community and/or prior experience working with lowincome communities
- Customer/subscriber experience, benefits & savings
 - User friendly in-person or online educational resources to help customers make informed choices about CS participation
 - Utilization or input from LI consumers and others, LI customer engagement
 - Guaranteed subscriber savings, favorable contract terms, long-term saving opportunities
 - Project co-owned by or provides benefits beyond project subscription to local, municipal, county, or tribal government, school, or non-profit
- Project siting characteristics:
 - strategic feeder lines; co-location with battery storage or other assets that can provide community resiliency;
 - Project located on landfills, brownfield, municipal/county, or state land
 - favorable environmental impact analysis; impact on land and artifacts of cultural and historical significance

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:

Background

In the working group meetings, stakeholders demonstrated a general consensus in favor of a Non-Price RFP selection process, composed of specific non-price criteria categories, as the methodology for Process for Selection of CS Project Proposals (Topic #1). Parties were further encouraged to comment on and recommend specific non-price categories that had strong support in the working group process, as well as to delineate and recommend whether certain non-price categories should be considered threshold eligibility criteria (e.g., site control) versus criteria that should receive relative weighting within the evaluation process.

Below is a summary of final working group positions statements in consideration of Topic #1:

Coalition for Community Solar Access, Coalition of Sustainable Communities New Mexico, GRID Alternatives, Solar Energy Industries Association, and Vote Solar (collectively the "Joint Commenters") support a non-price RFP approach to project selection, administered by a third-party contractor. The Joint Commenters recommend a single round of bidding for all 200 MW of program capacity and that the Commission require the IOUs to provide hosting capacity data to inform the site acquisition and interconnection process. They also recommend that projects participating in a rural electric cooperative program be excluded from the RFP, and that Indian Nations, Tribes, and Pueblos be consulted prior to project approval or development. The Joint Commenters propose the minimum bid requirements and scoring criteria as follows:

- Minimum bid requirements:
 - Bid fee to support the third-party administrator
 - Legally binding site control
 - o Commitment to meeting or exceeding all statutory subscriber requirements
 - Completed utility pre-screen or equivalent level of information
- Scoring criteria:
 - Project viability: project permitting; experience with subscriber acquisition and management; experience building and operating solar projects of similar size; financial strength and financing plan; state of project development and schedule
 - Low-income preference: exceeding low-income carve-out above 30% minimum; commitment to a higher percentage of low-income carve-out from low-income customers (as distinct to low-income service providers); plan for providing meaningful bill savings over project lifetime; partnership to deliver energy efficiency to subscribers; no up-front cost, early termination fee, or credit checks for subscribers
 - Local preference: resident business and resident veteran business pursuant to Section 13-1-21 NMSA 1978; community-based project ownership; utilization of NM-based partners
 - Project siting characteristics: strategic feeder lines; co-location with battery storage or other assets that can provide community resiliency; brownfield, municipal/county, or state lands; favorable environmental impact analysis; impact on land and artifacts of cultural and historical significance
 - Community benefits: workforce training and/or educational opportunities for disenfranchised groups; utilization of racial minority/women/veteran owned/operated businesses

While the Joint Commenters' proposal removes standard interconnection viability from the RFP, it establishes an expedited process for ensuring interconnection viability through formal studies immediately after capacity awards.

PNM favors a hybrid first-come first-serve Small Generator Interconnection Procedures (SGIP) process, in which a community solar project developers who have perfected their application will receive an assignment in the same queue as all developers that submit applications for small generator projects. Any preferences or weighting for community solar projects should be applied to those that have received a queue assignment in SGIP.

EPE and SPS are in favor of an RFP process that includes both price and non-price criteria. EPE also proposes that the Commission issue an RFP to landowners to submit their land availability

and leasing prices, and the utility will identify any synergy among winning land sites to support project siting decisions. EPE argues that this process will help avoid feeder saturation and level the cost of land.

SPS recommends that non-price criteria should include, at a minimum: New Mexico developer preference, site control, certain discretionary permits in place, develop and project financial viability, and projects that exceed the 30% low-income carve-out.

REIA NM supports an RFP process administered by an experienced independent administrator. REIA NM also highlights the importance of beginning the process to select the administrator before the program rules are finalized to ensure timely program launch. REIA NM provides an initial proposal of possible RFP minimum bid requirements and scoring criteria:

- Minimum bid requirements:
 - Fully executed, legally binding site control
 - Commitment to meet all statutory requirements
 - Application fee
 - o Upfront deposit, fully refundable prior to executed interconnection agreement
 - Narrative description of plan for subscriber enrollment
- Scoring criteria:
 - Economics: system output; system size; quaranteed subscriber savings
 - Preparedness: interconnection viability; permit derisking
 - o Developer experience: experience with projects of similar size and scope, including in New Mexico; experience in acquiring and managing subscribers
 - Subscriber mix: percentage of low-income subscribers above 30% carve-out; percentage of residential subscribers
 - o Community benefits: project located on landfills, brownfields, or state, county, or municipal land; project co-owned by or provides benefits beyond project subscription to local, municipal, county, or tribal government, school, or nonprofit
 - Expansion of local solar industry: use of New Mexico entities for EPC, engineering, professional services, materials, procurement, labor
 - Local preference: resident business or resident veteran business pursuant to Section 13-1-21 NMSA 1978

REIA NM also recommends that the Commission organize a separate working group to further refine the proposed criteria, as well as impose fines for developers that fail to meet commitment made during the RFP process.

The City of Las Cruces supports a non-price RFP selection process, with at least two rounds of RFPs for each service territory. The City of Las Cruces also stresses the importance of criteria related to subscriber cost savings, project viability, plans for meeting statutory requirements, low-income subscriber participation, and preference for resident businesses and resident veteran businesses.

The Bernalillo County Democratic Ward 17B ("Ward 17B") supports a non-price RFP. Ward 17B highlights project viability and environmental justice as the two most important criteria:

- Project viability:
 - o Developer and SO experience and qualifications: technical/industry experience; familiarity with local community served by proposed project

14

- Suitable size and interconnection: sized to reasonably serve residential and small commercial needs; sited to promote the development of distribution system to serve all communities
- Financial strength and financing plan
- o Project development schedule, including final connection date
- Environmental justice:
 - Long-term savings for customers
 - Utilization of input from LI consumers and others for outreach plans
 - User-friendly in-person and online educational resources to help customers make informed choice about community solar participation
 - Evidence of demonstrable efforts to partner with local nonprofits, businesses, and government entities
 - o Compliance with federal and state environmental protection law.

Cypress Creek Renewables ("CCR") supports the consensus for a non-price RFP selection process and recommends minimum requirements and scoring criteria as follows:

- Minimum requirements:
 - Legally binding site control
 - o Interconnection application in hand or line of sight to interconnection application
 - o Non-ministerial permits in hand or line of sight to permits
 - Plans to meet all statutory requirements, including 30% LI subscription requirement
- Scoring criteria:
 - Developer experience in community solar
 - Guaranteed subscriber savings
 - o Results of pre-application review indicating project proximity to distribution line
 - Local economic development: partnership with New Mexico-based businesses; workforce training
 - Community benefits: educational opportunities; partnership with local communities; community outreach
 - o LI subscription beyond 30% requirement

Yellow Bird Services agrees with the consensus for a non-price RFP and recommends prioritizing projects that can brought online within 12 months and have commitment to create long term jobs in New Mexico. YBS recommends minimum requirements and scoring criteria as follows:

- Minimum requirements:
 - Commitment for at least 30% LI subscribers
 - Commitment that no more than 40% of capacity will be assigned to any one subscriber
- Scoring criteria:
 - Project viability:
 - Evidence of soft customer commitments for 60%+ of project
 - Evidence of funding
 - Evidence of site commitment
 - Has solar system or 3+ years of solar installation experience
 - Commitment to community outreach
 - Guaranteed commercial operation within 12 months

- New Mexico preference:
 - Evidence that 40%+ of project committed to LI subscribers
 - Commitment to 90%+ of New Mexico labor (by dollars)
 - Commitment to 10%+ of materials manufactured in New Mexico
 - Has New Mexico-based customer service
 - Has New Mexico-based headquarters
 - Commitment to permanent long-term jobs
 - Environmental compliance and permitting plan
 - Cultural resources impacts

Dimension Renewable Energy ("Dimension") proposes a "continuous" selection process that does not rely on intermittent solicitations, similar to a first-come first-service approach but with well-defined minimum standards, including:

- Developer experience, site control, residential subscriber experience, LI community engagement strategy
- Project maturity: legally binding site control; signed interconnection agreement or results of system impact study; non-ministerial permits or evidence that permits are not required; development security
- Local preference: 25% of work done on project performed by New Mexican firms (measured in dollars or person-hours)
- Community engagement: support letter from local community or recognized community organization where project will be sited; master services agreement with an organization engaged in direct outreach to LI customers
- Deposits: security deposits based on project size, refundable upon commercial operation; 12-18 months commercial operation deadline from project acceptance

Dimension recommends the selection process be administered by the PRC or a third-party administrator, funded by program application fees, with PRC oversight.

Nexamp supports a first-come first-serve approach but recommends the following scoring criteria for an RFP:

- Project viability:
 - Interconnection screening
 - o Permitting: third-party permitting plan
 - Developer experience: experience with community solar and subscriber management
- Subscriber benefits:
- Higher levels of LI, residential participation than requirement
- Favorable contract terms: guaranteed savings; flexible contract terms such as no cancellation or upfront fees, no credit check
- Prior experience or partnerships with LI communities

Nexamp also recommends that all applicants be required to submit an application fee of \$10,000-15,000 to cover administrative costs and ensure that only serious, complete applications are submitted, as well as a refundable deposit to ensure that awarded applicants are fully committed to reach commercial operation.

The International Center for Appropriate and Sustainable Technology (ICAST) supports an RFP process and recommends that the highest RFP rating be given to projects that will:

- Serve higher percentage of LI residents
- Provide local job training and jobs to New Mexico's LI residents
- Offer the greatest utility cost savings (lowest PPA rate or largest discount rate)

However, ICAST opposes a numeric weighting for developer experience and qualifications, since this criterion may benefit large national developers over local developers. Instead, ICAST recommends this criterion be an informative section or, at minimum, include the entire team of developer, EPC contractors, and investors. Additionally, ICAST recommends that the selection process focus on projects sited on the most cost-effective sites rather than those sited on brownfields, agricultural lands, or industrial parcels.

Sovereign Energy supports an RFP process administered by a third-party, with the following selection criteria:

- Workforce development and community benefits: potential to support local businesses; workforce training, development, and educational opportunities; Indian preference for hiring for projects located on Tribal land
- Projects sited on brownfields or intended to serve environmental justice communities
- Projects exceeding the 30% LI carve-out

Forefront Power recommends the following minimum requirements:

- Proof of binding site control
- Proof of completed non-ministerial permits
- Completed utility pre-application that yields substation capacity
- Signed affidavit stating the developer will put into place a form of non-refundable collateral within 5 days of an award notification equal to \$25/MW

Topic #2: Allocation Of 200 MW Program Cap Among IOUs Recommendations for Commission Consideration:

The Commission is advised that there is a clear preference among stakeholders for allocating program capacity based on the addressable market in each utility territory.

That said, the exact methodology for this approach remains to be determined by the Commission. Given the lack of well-defined and readily available data for the "small commercial" customer class and other eligible nonprofit, Tribal, or government customers, using only kWh sales to residential customers as the basis to determine the addressable market would be the simplest approach. This methodology would largely match the proportions of the addressable market in each utility territory, as the residential customer class is a reasonable and fair proxy allocator.

On the other hand, including retail kWh sales to small commercial customers and other nonprofit, Tribal, and government customers in the calculation would result in a more accurate allocation between the utilities. However, these customer groups are not defined as a "rate class" and do not have readily available data like the residential class. Therefore, this approach

would be more time-consuming and require additional data collection and analysis from utilities.

The Commission's decision whether to include customer classes beyond residential in the calculation of addressable market is ultimately a balance between simplicity and accuracy. The Strategen team recommends the Commission consider embracing simplicity in this instance and allocate the 200 MW using residential kWh, which would yield the following: SPS – 45 MW; EPE – 30 MW; and PNM 125 MW.

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:

Background

Per discussions in the working group, Strategen had highlighted two key options re: Topic #2 to guide final comments:

- 1. Total kilowatt-hours (kWh) delivered electricity
- 2. Addressable market proportions (total kilowatt-hour delivered electricity for Subscribereligible customer segments)

Participants were encouraged to evaluate these two options in final comments as key option pathways.

The Joint Commenters recommend allocating program capacity proportionally by the retail kWh serving groups eligible to participate in community solar programs. Since residential retail customers represent the largest group and are clearly defined in available data, allocation of the 200 MW using residential kWh would be: 45 MW for SPS, 30 MW for EPE, and 120 MW for PNM.

PNM and EPE agree that the allocation of the cap should be based on the respective utility's retail kWh sales to the residential and small commercial customer classes. SPS suggests that the proportionality can be determined by either the kWh sales to those customer classes or the number of customers in those rate classes.

SPS also recommends that if the total program capacity falls short of the 200 MW, that information should be reported back to the Legislature, and the excess capacity should not be reallocated to other IOUs.

REIA NM supports allocating the 200 MW program cap by total kWh sales.

The City of Las Cruces recommends allocating the 200 MW on the basis of residential kWh, given the consistent and reliable data available for this customer class compared to small commercial and nonprofit customers.

Ward 17B supports program capacity allocation based on the addressable market proportions, according to the kWh delivered to residential, small commercial, and nonprofit, Native American, and government customers.

CCR recommends that program capacity be allocated based on the kWh sales of each utility's addressable market, particularly residential and small commercial customers. CCR also suggests that all 200 MW should be released at once rather than in tranches.

YBS support the addressable market approach, which would lead to an initial allocation of 100 MW to PNM, 70 MW to SPS, and 30 MW to EPE. YBS also recommends that a utility fails to get enough commitments, capacity allocations can be shifted to other utilities.

ICAST suggests that program capacity should be allocated based on available line capacity on the transmission grid to avoid the costs of upgrades to the transmission system. Alternatively, ICAST recommends allocating a minimum of ten projects or 50 MW to each utility before allocating the remaining capacity by population served or another mechanism.

Topic #3: Determining and Applying the Value of Solar Credits Per Rate Class

Recommendations for Commission Consideration:

The determination of the community solar bill credit rate is a central feature of any community solar program and is critical to its success. A bill credit rate set too low will erode developer interest in pursuing community solar projects and undermine the value proposition for prospective customer-subscribers. The net effect is likely a community solar program in name only; with few, if any, community solar projects developed and customers enjoying little by way of bill savings. Conversely, a bill credit rate set too high can catalyze an "overheated" community solar market, driving difficult interconnection queue issues, consumer protection concerns, and potentially impacting utility revenue collection from the application of credits on Subscribers bills.

Though the Working Group was not able to a consensus approach to developing a bill credit rate methodology, a few key recommendations are important to highlight as they inform key next steps for the Commission.

As stakeholders highlight in their comments, the Community Solar Act (CSA) provides that the community solar bill credit is to be calculated by subtracting the "commission-approved distribution cost components" from the total aggregate retail rate (TARR). The TARR, in turn, is defined as "the total amount of a qualifying utility's demand, energy and other charges converted to a kilowatt-hour rate, including fuel and power cost adjustments, the value of renewable energy attributes and other charges of a qualifying utility's effective rate schedule applicable to a given customer rate class...." The Joint Utilities recommend a bill credit rate methodology that interprets the CSA's language concerning "commission-approved distribution cost components" to mean that all the costs associated with distributing energy should be removed from the bill credit rate. According to the Joint Utilities, this would include both distribution and transmission costs. While acknowledging that the language "commissionapproved distribution cost components" is a phrase susceptible to multiple possible interpretations, stakeholders point out the Joint Utilities interpretation that it be construed to mean "energy delivery" inclusive of transmission costs would appear to stretch beyond the plain language of the CSA. Had the Legislature intended for transmission costs to be included in "commission-approved distribution cost components" it could and likely would have specified as

19

much. The CSA employed very specific and detailed language in describing the various components comprising the TARR and it is more than reasonable to assume that had it intended for transmission to be included it would have done so. Accordingly, a reasonable reading of the CSA leads to a community solar bill credit methodology derived by the TARR less commission-approved distribution costs – inclusive of transmission costs.

In order to the distribution costs deduction, the Joint Parties recommend an approach that runs the applicable overall cost of service model without distribution assets and expense – using the changes in rates per kWh to reflect the distribution cost component.

One challenge to the Joint Parties' proposed approach is the lack of a Commission-approved cost of service study for each of the utilities and the time necessary to develop one. The City of Las Cruces offers an interpretation and approach that might allow the Commission to establish a CSA-compliant community solar bill credit rate without the need for an up-to-date cost of service study for each utility. Rather, the City of Las Cruces offers that, under the CSA's definition of TARR, the Commission only needs to consider the most recent bill revenues excluding monthly customer service charges, energy efficiency riders, and other categories of riders and charges expressly excluded by the CSA for each class of service and divide those revenues by each class's total kWh for the corresponding period. The City of Las Cruces states its belief that the CSA offers the option of referring to past rate cases for system-wide or classwide allocations of distribution-related costs that were expressly approved by the Commission, or gives the Commission the option of approving the "distribution cost components" as part of its approval of the credit riders. Because Section 62-16B-7(B)(8) does not require those "distribution cost components" be derived on a rate class basis, it is possible to derive the distribution cost component element of the credit rider calculation from each utility's FERC uniform system of accounts, using the Commission's most recently authorized weighted average cost of capital.

The Commission may wish to explore the City of Las Cruces' approach to administratively setting a community solar bill credit in a streamlined and straightforward manner. In the alternative, the Commission will likely need more data from the utilities in order to set an adequate, CSA-compliant bill credit rate — including, potentially, the development of an updated cost of service study for one or more of the Joint Utilities. The Commission should consider further exploration of how the community solar bill credit rate might be augmented to adequately reflect the value of renewable energy attributes consistent with the language set forth in the CSA.

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:

Background

As context and reference for Topic #3, per the SB84 bill:

"total aggregate retail rate' means the total amount of a qualifying utility's demand, energy and other charges converted to a kilowatt-hour rate, including fuel and power cost adjustments, the value of renewable energy attributes and other charges of a qualifying utility's effective rate schedule applicable to a given customer rate class, but does not include charges described on a qualifying utility's rate schedule as minimum monthly charges, including customer or service availability charges, energy efficiency program riders or other charges not related to a qualifying utility's power production, transmission or distribution

functions, as approved by the commission, franchise fees and tax charges on utility bills;"(STBTC / SB 84, pg. 5).

During the working group process, to inform understanding and context on Topic #3, there were two related, but separate, requests made to the three IOU utilities operating in New Mexico (SPS, EPE, PNM):

- To prepare indicative results for prospective bill credit rates across residential and small commercial (requested by Arthur O'Donnell, Commission Staff in NM PRC Aug. 27 workshop)
- To submit a breakout of distribution cost components per customer class in the following customer class categories (requested by Strategen in WG Meeting #1, Subgroup B on July 22)

The Working Group file base has a folder titled "Utility Submission Requests," with a folder pertaining to each request, and materials obtained so far. Participants were encouraged to view these utility submissions as a reference for their final comments on Topic #3.

Re: other considerations for Topic #3, based on participant comments in the working group process and submitted comments, Strategen noted two key considerations to inform final comment positions:

- 1. Need for a single average bill credit rate for each eligible customer class
- 2. Different ways of approaching netting out of distribution costs
 - a. What is the best methodological approach to inform a bill credit rate?

Participants were encouraged to evaluate these two considerations in their final comments, and in particular are encouraged to propose methodology and a bill credit rate that the Commission can consider, using the utility submitted data spreadsheets as reference guides.

The Strategen team also noted a third question and consideration: whether bill credit rates should reflect additional value commensurate with renewable energy attributes. Per the language in SB84, 'total aggregate retail rate' means the total amount of a qualifying utility's demand, energy and other charges converted to a kilowatt-hour rate, including fuel and power cost adjustments, the value of renewable energy attributes and other charges of a qualifying utility's effective rate schedule applicable to a given customer rate class (emphasis added).

The Joint Commenters suggest that since the TARR fluctuates as base rates and riders change, the Commission should require the IOUs to file an annual advice letter that sets forth the community solar bill credit for that year. The Joint Commenters stress that the Community Solar Act requires only distribution costs, but not transmission costs, are deducted from the TARR. Regarding the distribution costs deduction calculation, the Joint Commenters propose running the applicable overall cost of service model without distribution assets and expenses, and the change in the rates per kWh will represent the distribution cost component. The Joint Commenters did not take a position on the need for a single average bill credit rate for each eligible customer class, citing gaps and issues with utility-provided data and the broad range reflected in the various rates for each utility. The Joint Commenters support incorporating the

value of renewable energy attributes in the community solar bill credit, including RPs compliance costs, the Social Cost of Carbon, and others.

PNM, EPE, and SPS argue both transmission and distribution costs should be removed from the bill credit rate. EPE also argues that a reduction of the production credit should be applied to account for the standby generation that EPE must supply to the community solar facility, and that the credit should not exceed the TARR.

The City of Las Cruces states that the Community Solar Act defines the TARR in terms of "charges" or revenues, rather than costs. Therefore, the City claims that it is unnecessary to unravel the utilities' costs from the last litigated rate case. Rather, the Commission on needs to consider the most recent billed revenues, excluding monthly customer service charges, energy efficiency riders, and other categories of riders and charges excluded by the CSA for each class, and divide those revenues by each class's total kWh for the corresponding period. The City also interprets the CSA as allowing the distribution cost component to be approved by the Commission as part of its approval of the bill credit rate, rather than requiring the distribution cost component to have been developed in a fully litigated rate proceeding. Thus, the distribution cost component can be derived from each utility's FERC uniform system of accounts.

Ward 17B states that community solar customers should pay fairly determined local feeder distribution costs and get credit for all "avoided costs" including transmission.

YBS states that there should not be a single average bill credit, but instead Time-of-Use (TOU) rates. YBS recommends a methodology that uses the revenue requirements per rate class from the most recent cost of service and Commission-determined Distribution Class Reductions for each rate class to calculate a Credit Price for each time slot, with fuel adjustment charges and without customer charges. YBS also recommends that the Commission determine a kWh credit value to be added for the value of RECs.

Sovereign Energy recommends the Commission create bill credit rates for all classifications of subscribers in the service territories of all qualifying utilities, given that "native community solar projects" are not limited to the definition of "subscribers" applicable to other community solar projects.

Topic #4: Calculation and Application of 3% Limitation on Cross-Subsidization

Recommendations for Commission Consideration:

In consideration of Topic #4, the Commission is advised that there was general consensus among stakeholders that it is premature to consider how to calculate and apply the limitation on cross-subsidization due to the lack of data, and that more information and data around the performance, costs, and benefits of Community Solar projects once they are deployed in New Mexico is needed until a comprehensive discussion can be had on the topic. However, the Commission may wish to review and consider general approaches as well as more specific considerations to the 3% calculation methodology submitted by key stakeholders (included below).

It is also recommended that the Commission give considerable attention to the important need to determine what constitutes a subsidy; and provide clear guidance on this to stakeholders once it is determined.

Considerations for the Commission from key stakeholder recommendations and comments re: the calculation & application of a 3% limitation on cross-subsidization:

- The Joint Commenters suggest that the 3% limitation can be derived by multiplying the utility's total non-subscriber retail revenue by 0.03. For this calculation, utilities must provide proof of any cross-subsidization, and utility revenue reductions related to subscribed energy should not count as cross-subsidization. The Joint Commenters also state that the balance between costs and benefits of community solar among subscribers and non-subscribers should be explored, but that there is not enough information at this point to determine whether or how much subsidies are occurring.
- Cypress Creek Renewables (CCR) states that any calculation of cross-subsidization should include both the costs and benefits of the community solar program.
- EPE recommends that the 3% subsidy methodology should be centered around a
 deviation from the utility's demand, energy, and other charges included in the TARR,
 exclusive of fuel and power cost adjustments, the value of renewable energy attributes,
 and other charges.
- PNM, although in agreement that there is currently a lack of data, also stresses that
 community solar will cause certain fixed costs to have to be borne by other customers
 and that the subsidy should be calculated per rate class.

Once again, an important challenge for the Commission is to determine what constitutes a subsidy, and to provide clear guidance on this definition to stakeholders moving forward.

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:

Background

The general consensus surrounding Topic #4 during the working group process was that more information and data around the performance, costs, and benefits of Community Solar projects once they are deployed in New Mexico is needed until a comprehensive discussion can be had on the topic. There are a number of different cost/benefit tests that can be deployed to approach Topic #4, and determining which one would work best will depend on a full evaluation of the entire set of costs as well as the entire set of benefits.

The Joint Commenters suggest that the 3% limitation can be derived by multiplying the utility's total non-subscriber retail revenue by 0.03. However, they argue that utilities must provide proof of any cross-subsidization, and that utility revenue reductions related to subscribed energy should not count as cross-subsidization. The Joint Commenters also state that the balance between costs and benefits of community solar among subscribers and non-subscribers should be explored, but that there is not enough information at this point to determine whether or how much subsidies are occurring.

PNM and SPS do not propose a methodology for calculating the 3% limitation on crosssubsidization due to a lack of data on community solar. However, PNM stresses that community solar will cause certain fixed costs to have to be borne by other customers and that the subsidy should be calculated per rate class.

EPE recommends that the 3% subsidy methodology should be centered around a deviation from the utility's demand, energy, and other charges included in the TARR, exclusive of fuel and power cost adjustments, the value of renewable energy attributes, and other charges.

The City of Las Cruces agrees that it is premature to consider how to calculate and apply the limitation on cross-subsidization due to the lack of data.

Ward 17B states that there is insufficient data the calculate the 3% limitation on crosssubsidization.

CCR states that any calculation of cross-subsidization should include both the costs and benefits of the community solar program.

YBS disagrees with the consensus that cross-subsidization cannot be calculated at this time. YBS suggests that the cross-subsidization limit can be calculated by multiplying the revenue requirement from the most recent rate case by 3%. The maximum per kWh subsidization can then be calculated by dividing 3% of the revenue requirement by the percentage of each utility's total kWh that is produced by community solar.

Topic #5: Guidelines for the Siting and Co-Location of CS Projects with Other Energy Resources

Recommendations for Commission Consideration:

While no clear consensus emerged among stakeholders, the Commission is advised to consider the Joint Commenters' recommendation, which states that co-located community solar projects totaling up to 5 MW should be allowed on the same parcel if they are interconnected to different substations, as the option with the most support.

Options presented by other stakeholders that the Commission may also wish to evaluate include:

- PNM recommends using existing qualifying facility rules.
- EPE recommends allowing only one project per land parcel and limiting co-location with non-solar DERs to a maximum overall facility nameplate capacity of 5 MW.
- SPS recommends allowing more than one project per land parcel as long as the total nameplate capacity of projects in the parcel is no more than 5 MW.
- The City of Las Cruces recommends that projects totaling more than 5 MW should be allowed on the same parcel if they are interconnected separately and are not proposed at the same time by the same developer.
- Ward 17B recommends allowing co-location as long as the co-located projects are able to interconnect without obstruction or interference with other grid users.
- CCR recommends allowing only one community solar project per parcel.
- YBS recommends limiting co-location of community solar to maximum 5 MW on the same connection.

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:

The Joint Commenters recommend that, in general, the Commission should prohibit more than 5 MW of co-located community solar on the same parcel, except if the two projects are interconnected to different substations. This flexibility would account for the very large land parcels that are common in New Mexico. The Joint Commenters also suggest that the Commission should evaluate these rules as part of the 2024 lookback and report to the legislature in order to balance any pros and cons of co-location.

PNM suggests that the Commission should use existing qualifying facility rules for the colocation of community solar. PNM also recommends that the co-location determination be administered by a third-party to help ensure consistency across different utility systems.

EPE supports limiting co-location to one community solar project per land parcel but allowing co-location of non-solar DERs such as storage as long as the overall facility nameplate capacity is 5 MW or less.

SPS recommends allowing more than one project per land parcel as long as the total capacity adheres to the 5 MW limit per land parcel.

The City of Las Cruces recommends allowing community solar projects on the same parcel as long as they are interconnected separately and not proposed at the same time by the same developer, regardless whether the projects add up to more than 5 MW.

Ward 17B supports co-location as long as the co-located projects are able to interconnect without obstruction or interference with other grid users. Ward 17B also states that communities should be able to influence the siting of community solar projects, and that the Commission can achieve this objective by developing interconnection rules that mandate utility system-side evaluations of the distribution systems.

CCR supports allowing only one community solar project per parcel and highlights the importance of making hosting capacity information available to inform project siting.

YBS supports limiting co-location of community solar to maximum 5 MW on the same connection. Additionally, YBS argues that the Commission should allow "next-door neighbors" to supply power for community solar without requiring separate metering.

Topic #6: Criteria for Low-Income Customer Definition, Subscriber Eligibility & Verification, Pre-Qualification

Recommendations for Commission Consideration:

The appropriate pathways for the qualification and verification of LI subscribers must ensure factual information as well as avoid unnecessary barriers for customers. To this end, the Commission is advised to adopt two pathways with strong support among stakeholders: self-attestation and pre-qualifying LI programs.

Allowing customers to provide self-attestation of their LI status avoids intrusive personal information requirements, and there is little evidence of customers falsely claiming to be LI in order to participate in community solar programs. Using customers' participation in other existing LI programs as evidence of their LI status is also a straightforward way to qualify LI customers for community solar participation, taking advantage of the LI status verification already performed by the relevant LI program administrator. Both of these options received significant support from stakeholders, with the only exception of PNM, who supports requiring LI status to be verified only by qualification for other LI programs. In final comments, stakeholders identified the following options that can service as pre-qualifying LI programs:

- Medicaid;
- Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP);
- Low-Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP);
- First-time homeowner programs and housing rehabilitation programs;
- Living in a low-income/affordable housing facility;
- State and federal income tax credit programs.

An additional option for the Commission to consider is the use of third-party LI service organizations to perform outreach to and enrollment of LI

customers. However, if the Commission decides to enable this option, critical questions regarding the training and compensation for such organizations need to be resolved. A potential solution is presented by the Joint Commenters, who suggest that the Commission should create a training program for participating organizations and set a minimum compensation that Subscriber Organizations could offer participating organizations for educating and enrolling LI subscribers.

Furthermore, the Commission is advised to recognize a differentiation between LI households and LI service organizations. Even though the CSA allows either type of subscribers to count towards the 30% LI carve-out, the Commission should also consider placing a limit on how much of the carve-out can be taken up by LI service organizations. Such a limit would ensure that LI households have ample opportunity to participate in community solar and enjoy direct and meaningful financial benefits from community solar subscriptions.

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:

Background

Strategen highlighted two key approaches regarding option pathways for Topic #6:

- 1. Identify and develop list of low income (LI) pre-qualifying programs that might serve to establish LI Subscriber eligibility
 - Need to identify state/federal programs that can serve as pre-qualifying certification
- 2. Self-certification/self-attestation of LI eligibility

Participants were encouraged to evaluate these options in consideration of their final comments regarding Topic #6. Acknowledging the above list may not be exhaustive, parties should feel open to suggest additional approaches. Regarding option #1, above, "Identify and develop list of LI pre-qualifying programs to qualify LI

customers", participants were also encouraged to identify specific programs that can serve as pre-qualifying certification in New Mexico to be considered by the Commission for the final Rulemaking.

The Joint Commenters support the two pathways highlighted by Strategen and suggest the following LI programs that can provide pre-qualification: Medicaid, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), and Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP). The Joint Commenters also provide additional options to qualify LI customers: low-income qualified housing facility or other Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) qualified housing arrangements, as well as voluntary utilization of third-party, LI service organizations. For the latter option, the Joint Commenters suggest the Commission create a training program for participation organizations and set a minimum compensation that Subscriber Organizations could offer the participating organizations to identify, education, and enroll LI subscribers. The Joint Commenters also recommends placing a limit on how much of the 30% LI carve-out can be filled with LI service organizations, in order to ensure that LI households receive tangible benefits.

PNM, EPE, and SPS support a third-party verification process. EPE and SPS recommend that the Commission or its designee be responsible for validating the 30% LI requirement and for the self-certification of LI subscribers. PNM recommends that the Commission require LI eligibility be demonstrated by qualification for LIHEAP or another third-party standard.

The City of Las Cruces also supports using self-verification and LI programs such as SNAP and LIHEAP as options to qualify LI subscribers. The City also encourages SOs to hire non-governmental organizations that work with LI communities to provide subscriber outreach and enrollment. For the EPE service territory, the City identifies the Community Action Agency of Southern New Mexico as a potential partner.

Arcadia supports using census block group data as an additional pathway to confirm LI status and suggests that all households in a census block group with a median household income below 80% of the area median income be considered low-income. Arcadia explains that since census block groups are smaller than census tracts, this approach would reduce the inadvertent verification of non-LI households. Arcadia recommends that self-attestation should not be a requirement if the Commission adopts the census block groups option. Ward 17B recommends the Commission define low-income customers as customers with incomes up to 200% of the New Mexico poverty level set by the Department of Health and Human Services. For proxy programs that can help qualify LI customers, Ward 17B identifies first-time homeowners' programs, housing rehabilitation programs, and certain federal and state tax income credit programs.

YBS supports simple methods for LI qualification, including self-attestation.

Nexamp supports the use of proxy LI programs and self-attestation for the qualification of LI customers. Nexamp suggests that a small working group could help develop a list of programs and specific implementation issues.

ICAST suggests prequalifying an entire Multi-Family Affordable Housing property instead of subscribing individual tenants. Additionally, ICAST recommends that the 30% LI carve-out be assessed across the entire program, rather than on a per project basis.

Topic #7: Subscriber Eligibility Criteria

Recommendations for Commission Consideration:

To efficiently provide clear guidance on subscriber eligibility criteria in the final Community Solar Act (CSA), the Commission is advised to consider an agreed-upon definition for small commercial customers, ideally that would be consistent for each utility. Specifically, it is recommended that the Commission consider defining "small commercial customer" as customers under PNM's Small Power Service, EPE's Small General Service, and SPS's Small General Service tariffs:

- PNM's Small Power Service (less than 50 kW)
- EPE's Small General Service (less than 50 kW)
- SPS's Small General Service (less than 25 kW)

This recommendation comes from consensus among the three utilities, Joint Commenters/Supporters, REIA NM, and Cypress Creek Renewables to interpret and define "small commercial" customers as such.

Furthermore, within the definition of "small commercial customers" under the CSA, the Commission is further advised to provide guidance considering:

- The discrepancy of SPS' 25 kW and the other two utilities 50 kW threshold: EPE asked for there to be clarification for whether customers in EPE's Small General Service tariff and PNM's Small Power Service tariff over 25 kW will be allowed to participate. For the sake of consistency, one potential solution the Commission might consider is having SPS include commercial customers with less than 50 kW demand, a recommendation by the Joint Commenters.
- If there are any specific instances of small commercial customers who should *not* be eligible for the community solar program. Specifically, PNM suggested that large non-profit organizations and customers with on-site net metered solar should not be eligible to participate in community solar.
- If there are any specific instances where the definition of small commercial customers should be expanded. Specifically, REIA NM proposed that customers not under the existing utility tariffs but fit the definition of "small business" under the US Small Business Administration should also qualify for participation in the community solar program. According to REIA, these customers would demonstrate their eligibility by submitting an SBA Certification or other documentation.
- Any specifications related to rate class/rate schedule needed in the definition. It is worth noting that SPS' specific proposal was "to count any commercial customers under 25 kW as 'small commercial,' regardless of rate schedule."

Although there is widespread consensus among the majority of key stakeholders in defining small commercial customers, the Commission should also note that the City of Las Cruces argued in their final submitted comments that the CSA requires small commercial retail

customers be defined "by rate class," and therefore does not give the Commission, or utilities, direction to determine which customers should be considered eligible as small commercial customers. In response to this argument, the Strategen team observes the spirit and context of the CSA should be interpreted as granting the Commission much broader authority to establish programmatic rules and eligibility for community solar projects; noting that the establishment of programmatic criteria (such as defining small commercial customers) is inherently not the same thing as creating a new rate class.

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:

The Joint Commenters identify the tariffs for the three IOUs that most closely align with the "small commercial" designation as PNM's Small Power Service (less than 50 kW), EPE's Small General Service (less than 50 kW), and SPS's Small General Service (less than 25 kW). For the sake of consistency, the Joint Commenters recommend that SPS include commercial customers with less than 50 kW demand.

PNM interprets "small commercial" customers as those serviced by its Small Power Service tariff. PNM also suggests that large non-profit organizations and customers with on-site net metered solar should not be eligible to participate in community solar.

EPE proposes to consider customers under its Small General Service tariff to be "small commercial" customers but recommends that the Commission make clear whether customers in EPE's Small General Service tariff and PNM's Small Power Service tariff over 25 kW will be allowed to participate.

SPS proposes to count any commercial customers under 25 kW as "small commercial," regardless of rate schedule.

REIA NM agrees that customers under PNM's Small Power Service, EPE's Small General Service, and SPS's Small General Service should qualify as "small commercial" customers. However, REIA also proposes that customers not under these tariffs but fit the definition of "small business" under the US Small Business Administration also qualify for participation in the community solar program. According to REIA, these customers would demonstrate their eligibility by submitting an SBA Certification or other documentation.

The City of Las Cruces states that the CSA requires that small commercial retail customers must be "by rate class," and therefore does not give the Commission discretion to determine which customers should be eligible. Since the utilities lack a small commercial rate class, the solution, the City argues, is for utilities to propose uniform small commercial rate class in the next general rate cases or seek amendments to the CSA.

CCR supports defining "small commercial" customers as customers under PNM's Small Power Service, EPE's Small General Service, and SPS's Small General Service tariffs. YBS suggests that commercial accounts with less than 800 kW of demand be allowed to participate as "small commercial" customers, based on EPE's threshold for Rate #9 – Large Power Service Rate.

Topic #8: Uniform disclosure form identifying info from a subscriber organization to a potential subscriber

Recommendations for Commission Consideration:

The Commission is advised to recognize stakeholder comments requesting that the uniform disclosure form be kept short and simple, thus ensuring a higher likelihood of potential subscribers reading through the form. Also, although stakeholders noted that it was useful to include the "price to compare" of default electric service, guaranteed savings and estimated benefits; the Commission should strive to ensure that this information is actually accurate and informative and to avoid confusing or misleading language. The form should also make clear the role of subscriber organizations and of utilities, to avoid confusion and to avoid folks calling utilities with issues or questions that should be made to subscriber organizations.

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:

Background

Based on working group discussions and submitted comments from participants, Strategen had summarized a list of key elements as consideration for the creation of a uniform disclosure form for New Mexico CS program:

- Contract length & renewal
- Cancellation policy
- Cost per-kWh of the subscription, other fees & charges, payment details
- The "price to compare" of default electric service, guaranteed savings, estimated benefits
- System size & generation, portion of system allocated to customer
- Portability of subscription within service territory
- Location of the CS project (or projects if the SO operates multiple)
- Data sharing, privacy policy & customer rights
- Info about grievances and PRC contacts to register complaints

Stakeholders were encouraged to review, evaluate and rate these proposed key elements, note any areas that may be problematic, and add in any additional elements that should be considered to be included in the disclosure form.

The Joint Commenters highlight the importance of simplicity and recommend the uniform disclosure form include the following information:

- General project information;
- Effective date and term of the agreement;
- Identification of all charges and fees;
- Payment details;
- Information about the bill credit mechanism;
- A comparison of the subscriber's net bill with and without their subscription;
- Terms and conditions of service;
- Process of customer notification if the community solar facility is out of service;
- Customer protections provided;

- Contact information for questions and complaints;
- Agreement for SOs to update and notify the subscriber of changes that could impact the subscriber.

The Joint Commenters also suggest the Commission review the example of uniform disclosure forms from New York, Maryland, and New Jersey.

PNM does not provide a position on the list of information proposed by Strategen, but express support for efforts to clarify subscriber protections and how to resolve complaints that do not involve the utility. PNM also suggest that the Commission consider minimal contract lengths, renewable policies, and cancellation policies.

SPS suggests adding the following elements to the list provided by Strategen:

- Explanation of roles of parties (utility, SO, Commission, other subscriber or customer support organizations), with contact information for each;
- Any changes over time in per kWh cost of subscription, with confirmation on whether the kWh is based on estimated or actual monthly production;
- Process to exercise the portability of subscription within the service territory.

Additionally, SPS argues that there should be discussion on the methodology of the estimated utility rate escalation used for the bill comparison.

The City of Las Cruces supports the elements of the uniform disclosure form listed by Strategen and highlights the importance of including a description of what a "subscription" means, the costs and benefits of participation, and the bill credit mechanism. The City also warns against potentially misleading bill comparisons that are based on an "average" customer.

Ward 17B supports the list of uniform disclosure form elements provided by Strategen. YBS recommends a 1-page summary document for customers and a more detailed document that will rule in cases where consumer issues arise.

Topic #9: Any potential limitations on use of RECs by utilities (i.e., can they be sold or transferred)

Recommendations for Commission Consideration:

It is recommended that the Commission allow utilities to sell or transfer RECs at their discretion, per the Community Solar Act and as agreed upon by the majority of stakeholders, including the Joint Commenters and the IOUs. However, the Commission may also consider the City of Las Cruces and YBS's recommendation that utilities be required to retire the RECs generated by community solar projects. Some stakeholders presented additional recommendations:

• The Joint Commenters urge the Commission to encourage utilities to offer customers the opportunity to purchase the RECs.

- ICAST recommends that the Commission assign a dollar value to the RECs and provide developers an option to purchase the RECs for their projects from the utility.
- Ward 17B suggests that RECs should not be sold to larger utilities.

As recommended by the Joint Commenters and YBS, the Commission is advised to consider the merits of including the value of RECs in the bill credit mechanism, which would improve the financial viability of projects.

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:

Background

The Strategen facilitated working groups were not able to adequately address Topic #9 in the meetings. Regardless, two key areas of consideration that came up per other discussions in the working group are included for stakeholder consideration and evaluation:

- Utility retirement of RECs for CS projects should this be a requirement?
- Should the value of renewable energy attributes be reflected in the bill credit rate? Is this option important to enhance overall project economics and make the CS program in NM more successful?

The Joint Commenters state that according to the Community Solar Act, utilities have the right to sell or transfer RECs at their discretion. However, the Commission should ensure that the value of RECs is reflected in bill credits to subscribers. The Joint Commenters also urge the Commission to encourage utilities to offer interested customers the opportunity to purchase the RECs.

PNM and SPS maintain that there should not be any limitations on the use of RECs by utilities. EPE state that the utility will register RECs associated with community solar with WREGIS, and that RECs may be retired for purposes of meeting RPS requirements.

The City of Las Cruces recommends that the Commission should require utilities to use the RECs they receive from community solar projects to satisfy their RPS requirements, or, at minimum, require utilities to report in detail on how they use the RECs.

Ward 17B suggests that RECs should not be sold to larger utilities.

YBS recommends that utilities be required to retire RECs within a reasonable time and that the value of renewable energy attributes should be reflected in the bill credit rate.

ICAST recommends that the Commission assign a dollar value to the RECs and provide developers an option to purchase the RECs for their projects from the utility.

Topic #10: Establishing criteria for registration of Subscriber Organizations (owners of projects)

Recommendations for Commission Consideration:

The Commission is advised to recognize the strong consensus for a streamlined registration process for Subscriber Organizations. Particularly, the Joint Commenters recommend that the project submission process should require no more than basic contact information. For Subscriber Organizations with projects approved in project selection, the registration should also be as simple as possible and should not require any affirmation or approval by the Commission. Overall, stakeholders support requiring from Subscriber Organizations with winning bids, as well as any subscribing agents or contractors, the list of key information provided by Strategen, which includes:

- Organizational type (for-profit, non-profit, tribal entity, etc.) and by business type (sole proprietor, LLC, corporation, etc.);
- Parent company or other corporate affiliations, including utility-involvement;
- Brief description of its involvement in community solar, solar energy, power generation, real estate development or other related fields;
- Description of the projects the SO intends to develop and/or a list of specific projects or sites it has already developed;
- Attestation that entity will comply with program rules;
- Any legal actions against the company.

Only a small number of stakeholders – Las Cruces, Ward 17B, and CCR – provide recommendations on a standard form contract in final comments. While these stakeholders, support a standard form contract, there was no consensus regarding when a standard form contract should be developed and finalized.

Summary of Stakeholder Comments:

Background

Per comments submitted from stakeholders in the working group process, Strategen noted that the NM PRC should consider the following information from Subscriber Organizations (SOs) as key criteria:

- Organizational type (for-profit, non-profit, tribal entity, etc.) and by business type (sole proprietor, LLC, corporation, etc.)
- Parent company or other corporate affiliations, including utility-involvement
- Brief description of its involvement in community solar, solar energy, power generation, real estate development or other related fields
- Description of the projects the SO intends to develop and/or a list of specific projects or sites it has already developed
- Attestation that entity will comply with program rules
- Any legal actions against the company

In their final comments, stakeholders were encouraged to review, evaluate and rate these proposed key elements, note any areas that may be problematic, and add any recommendations for other requirements to be considered as included criteria. There was also

a question around whether there is a need for a standard form contract, in consideration of Topic #10 – stakeholders were encouraged to comment whether they think this should be called out in the Rulemaking process or figured out later on.

The Joint Commenters advocate for the registration process for SOs that have been approved in project selection to be as streamlined as possible and not require any affirmation or approval by the Commission. For the project submission process, basic contact information should suffice. The Joint Commenters agree that the Commission should require from SOs the information identified by Strategen above. In addition, the Joint Commenters recommend similar registration for any subscribing agents or contractors.

PNM and SPS support efforts to ensure that SOs comply with national and state business laws and are accountable to utilities and subscribers. PNM also supports ensuring that SOs comply with interconnection agreements and financial responsibilities and have experience operating a solar facility, while SPS supports the list of criteria provided by Strategen. EPE recommends that the Commission appoint a third-party to verify and evaluate SOs.

REIA NM agrees with the Joint Commenter regarding a streamlined and expeditious digital registration process that only requires basic contact information during the project submission process.

The City of Las Cruces agrees that the registration process should be streamlined. Additionally, the City suggests that it is premature for the Commission to develop a standard form contract, but a standard form contract may be beneficial in the future.

Ward 17B supports a standard form contract.

CCR supports the items listed by Strategen and suggests that the standard form contract can be finalized following the rulemaking process.

YBS stresses that there should not be criteria that favor large SOs over smaller ones.

Other Issues Raised by Stakeholders

Consolidated Billing

Several stakeholders, including the Joint Commenters, Arcadia, Ward 17B, and YBS, recommend that the Commission adopt consolidated billing. Consolidated billing incorporates the subscription fee into subscribers' monthly utility bills and thus eliminates the need for an additional bill, which can be a major barrier for low-income subscribers. However, as the IOUs pointed out during the working group meetings, consolidated billing may cause subscribers to incorrectly assume that the utility is responsible for their community solar subscription and contact the utility with complaints rather than the Subscriber Organization. Nevertheless, the uniform disclosure form can be an opportunity to clearly communicate different parties'

responsibilities under the community solar program. The Commission is therefore advised to recognize the benefits that consolidated billing can deliver.

Native Community Solar Projects and Rural Electric Cooperative Participation

The Commission is advised to consider Sovereign

Energy's recommendations regarding native community solar projects and rural electric cooperative participation in the community solar program, which are explicitly enabled by the Community Solar Act. Sovereign Energy's recommendations include:

- Create bill credit rates for all classifications of subscribers in the service territories of all qualifying utilities, since native community solar projects are not limited to the definition of "subscribers" applicable to other community solar projects
- Create a standard process for implementation and interconnection of native community solar projects
- Create a subgroup to engage low-income stakeholders and disproportionately impacted communities and create a formal process and timeline to conduct meaningful consultation with Indian nations, tribes, and pueblos
- Provide clarity in the opt-in process for rural electric cooperatives and request information from rural electric cooperatives about how they might consider participating in the program

35

BEFORE THE NEW MEXICO PUBLIC REGULATION COMMISSION

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMMISSION'S ADOPTION)	
OF RULES PURSUANT TO THE COMMUNITY SOLAR)	Docket No. 21-00112-UT
ACT)	

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing Notice of Filing of

Report from Strategen Consulting and Agenda for Third Workshop was sent via email to the

following parties on the date indicated below:

A.J. Gross ajgross@hollandhart.com;

Abbas Akhil abbas@revtx.com;

Abbas Akhil abbas.akhil@nmlegis.gov;
Abbas Akhil aakhil@comcast.net;
Abigail Sawyer abigail@newsdata.com;
Adam Alvarez adam.alvarez@pnm.com;
Adam Harper adamh@osceolaenergy.com;
Adele Lee aclee@hollandhart.com;

Ahtza D Chavez ahtza@NAVAEducationProject.org;
Alena Brandenberger alena.brandenberger@cnmec.org;

Allen H. Downs biz@lifeisgood2.com;
Alton Looney alooney@ad.nmsu.edu;
Amanda Alderson aalderson@consultbai.com;

Amanda Edwards AE@JalbLaw.com;

Amy Shelhamer ashelhamer@courtneylawfirm.com;

Anastasia S. Stevens astevens.law@gmail.com;
Andrea Contreras Andrea.Contreras@pnm.com;

Andrea Crane ctcolumbia@aol.com;
Andrew Harriger akharriger@sawvel.com;
Andrew Stone andrew@stone.com;

Ann Pham annpham@cenergypower.com;
Anna Hansen ahansen@santafecountynm.gov;
Anne Dorough district5@socorroelectric.com;
Anthony Mercure amercure@noraelectric.org;

Antonio R Sanchez, Jr. sancheza@rcec.org;
Antonio Sanchez sancheza@rcec.coop;

April Elliot April.elliott@westernresources.org;

April Elliott april@elliottanalytics.com;
April Elliott ccae@elliottanalytics.com;
Arellana Coredero arellana@prosperityworks.net;

Armando Cardenas JCardenas@cdec.coop; Arthur O'Donnell art.o'donnell@state.nm.us; Athena Christodoulou Austin Rueschhoff

B. Hart Ben Aparo

Ben Luxenberg

Ben Shelton

Bernarr Treat

Beth Beloff Bobby Ferris Brad Baldridge

Bradford Borman Brian Buffington Brian K. Johnson, PE

Caitlyn Wan

Capt Robert L. Friedman Capt. Lanny Zieman Capt. Natalie Cepak

Cara Koonz Carey Salaz Carla Najar Carlos Lucero Carol Clifford Casey Settles

CFRECLEANENERGY

Charles Carter Hall

Charles Garcia Charles Mulcock Charles Noble Charles T. Pinson

Charlie Ford Chis Worley

Chris Dizon
Chris McKee

Christian Casillas Christine Lozano Christopher Dunn

Chuck Moore

Chuck Watkins
Chuck Watkins

Cindy Buck

Claudia Borchert Claudia Risner Claudine Custodio

Clay Doyle Clint Pierce Collin Gillespie athenanmsea@gmail.com;

darueschhoff@hollandhart.com; Joshua.smith@sierraclub.org;

baparo@srenergy.com;

ben.luxenberg@galeheaddev.com;

ben@cvnm.org;

Bernarr.r.treat@xcelenergy.com;

beth@bethbeloff.com; bferris@lcecnet.com;

brad.baldridge@xcelenergy.com; Bradford.borman@state.nm.us; brian.buffington@pnm.com;

brian@nmreta.net;

caitlyn.wan@nmlegis.gov; Robert.Friedman.5@us.af.mil; Lanny.Zieman.1@us.af.mil; Natalie.Cepak.2@us.af.mil; ckoontz@sunvest.com; Carey.Salaz@pnm.com; csnajjar@virtuelaw.com; carlos.lucero@pnm.com; carol@thejonesfirm.com;

casey.settles@xcelenergy.com; cfrecleanenergy@yahoo.com;

Chall@earthjustice.org;

cgarcia@cuddymccarthy.com; charliem@ote-coop.com; noble.ccae@gmail.com; cpinson@cvecoop.org; charlie@secpower.com;

christopher.worley@sunrun.com; Chris.dizon@endlessenergy.solar;

chris.mckee@krqe.com; cecasillas@gmail.com; christine.lozano@aes.com; christopher.dunn@state.nm.us; cmoore@navopache.org;

chuck watkins 2012@gmail.com;

chuckw@icastusa.org; cindy.buck@pnm.com;

Claudia.borchert@state.nm.us; cmrisner2014@gmail.com; claudine@votesolar.org; clay.doyle@epelectric.com; clint.pierce@cnmec.org; collin.gillespie@state.nm.us; Columbus Electric general@col-coop.com;
Continental Divide Electric bob@rf-lawfirm.com;

Corina Sandoval csandoval@cdec.coop;
Corrina Kumpe ckumpe@mysunshare.com;

Curtis Hutcheson Curtis.hutcheson@epelectric.com;
Cydney Beadles cydney.beadles@westernresources.org;

Cynthia Hall
Cynthia.Hall@state.nm.us;
Dahl Harris
dahlharris@hotmail.com;
Dale Lyons
Damon Withrow
damon.withrow@xcelenergy.com;

Dana Koller danak@osceolaenergy.com;
Dana S. Hardy dhardy@hinklelawfirm.com;
Daniel Najjar dnajjar@virtuelaw.com;
Daniel Najjar vnajjar@aol.com;

Daniel Weinman dan@ppcsolar.com;
Daren Zigich DarenK.Zigich@state.nm.us;
David Black david.black@state.nm.us;

David Breecker

David L. Gilmer

David Sonntag

David Spradlin

Delbert Lucero

Dena M. Bennett

david@breeckerassociates.com;
davidlgilmer@icloud.com;
davidlgilmer@icloud.com;
davidlgilmer@icloud.com;
davidlgilmer@icloud.com;
delbertl@ote-coop.com;
delbertl@ote-coop.com;
dmb@modrall.com;

Denise Barrera deniseb@secpower.com;
Diane F Brown dianefullerbrown@yahoo.com;
Don Hancock Sricdon@earthlink.net;
Don Hancock sricdon@earthlink.com;
Doug Gegax dgegax@nmsu.edu;

Doug Lucas dlucas@sunvest.com;
Duncan Valley Electric kimberly@dvec.org;

Dylan Connelly dylan.connelly@affordable-solar.com;

Ed Brolin broline@conedceb.com;
Ed Romero broline@conedceb.com;
edromero@sfcha.com;

Ed Rougemont erougemont@nmelectric.coop;
Elisha Leyba-Tercero Elisha.Leyba-Tercero@state.nm.us;
Elizabeth Ramirez Elizabeth.Ramirez@state.nm.us;

Ella Wynn ewynn@ric.energy;

Emmanuel Villalobos emmanuel.villalobos@epelectric.com;

Eric Gold abq.gold@gmail.com;
Eric Martinot emartinot@gridworks.org;
Eric Phillips ephillips@pivotenergy.net;
Ernest Holman ernesth@secpower.com;
Ernesto Gonzales egonzales@jemezcoop.org;

Farmers' Electric Cooperative, Inc. fec@fecnm.org;

Fred Kennon fredk@donaanacounty.org;
Gabriella Dasheno Gabriella.Dasheno@state.nm.us;

Gabrielle Burkhart Galina Kofchock Gary Roulet Gilbert Fuentes Gino Grilli Glenn Schiffbauer

Gino Grilli
Glenn Schiffbauer
Greg R. Meyer
Greg Sonnenfeld
Hillel Halberstam
Holland Hart
Ivaylo Tomchev
J.D. Bullington
Jack Sidler
Jacob Fraatz

Jacqueline Waite Jake Bobro

James Dauphinais James Jimenez James Schichtl Jane Yee

Janie Chermak Jared Luner

Jarryd Commerford

Jason Marks
Jason Montoya
Jason Trujillo
Javier Perea
Jeff Wernert
Jeffrey Atencio
Jeffrey H. Albright
Jeffrey J. Wechsler

Jemez Mountain Electric

Jenna Warmuth Jennifer Ortiz

Jennifer Vega-Brown

Jenny Heeter
Jeremy Lewis
Jill Cliburn
Jill Tauber
Jim DesJardins
Jim DesJardins
Jim DesJardins
Joan Brown
Joan Drake
Joe A Garibay
Joe Henri

Gabrielle.Burkhart@krqe.com; galinak@osceolaenergy.com;

g_roulet@wfec.com;

GilbertT.Fuentes@state.nm.us; ggrilli@dimension-energy.com; glennschiffbauer@gmail.com; gmeyer@consultbai.com;

greg@sonnenfeldconsulting.com; hillel.halberstam@synergensolar.com; glgarganoamari@hollandhart.com;

itomchev@ric.energy; jdbullington1@gmail.com; Jack.Sidler@state.nm.us;

jfraatz@dimension-energy.com; jacqueline.waite@state.nm.us; jbobrow@mysunshare.com; jdauphinais@consultbai.com;

jjimen03@unm.edu;

James.Schichtl@epelectric.com;

jyee@cabq.gov; jchermak@unm.edu;

jared.luner@xcelenergy.com;

jarryd@srenergy.com;

lawoffice@jasonmarks.com; JasonN.Montoya@state.nm.us; jtrujillo@morasanmiguel.coop; lperea@solarsmartliving.com; jwernert@theprimegroupllc.com; Jeff@rainstorm-consulting.com;

JA@JalbLaw.com;

Jwechsler@montand.com; ajchavez@jemezcoop.org; jwarmuth@nexamp.com; Jennifer.Ortiz@epelectric.com;

Jvega-brown@las-cruces.org; Jenny.Heeter@nrel.gov; jlewis@slo.state.nm.us;

jkcliburn@cliburnenergy.com; jtauber@earthjustice.org; jimdesjardins1@gmail.com; j.desjardins@hotmail.com; jim@sollunasolar.com;

joanbrown@nm-ipl.org; jdrake@modrall.com;

joe.garibay@epelectric.com; jhenri@dimension-energy.com; John Bernhardt
John Bogatko
John Reynolds
John Tapia
Jon Hawkins
Jon Rappe
Jon Sullivan
Jonathan Cole

Jose F. Provencio Jose Lovato Joseph Feole Joseph Herrera Joseph Montoya

Jorge A. Garcia

Josh Madalena
Joshua L. Smith
Joyce Bogosian
Judith Amer
Judith Parsons
Julia Barnes
Julia Broggi

Julia Broggi Julia Van Lith Julie Tackett Kari E. Olson Katelyn Hart

Katherine Coleman Kathleen Larese

Kathleen Sanchez Keith Herrmann Kelly Gould Kelly Gould Kelsey Rader Ken Hughes Ken Wilson

Keven Groenewold

Kevin Cray
Kim Legant
Kitty Turner
Kristen Peterson
Kyle J. Smith
Kyle Reddell
Lance Adkins

Larry Blank
Laura Rodriguez
Laura Vanoni

Lea County Electric

jbernhardt@pivotenergy.net; John.bogatko@state.nm.us; john.reynolds@state.nm.us; johnjt66@yahoo.com;

Jon.hawkins@pnmresources.com;

jrappe@ric.energy;

jsullivan@pivotenergy.net;

jcole@soltage.com; JAG@las-cruces.org;

Joprovencio@las-cruces.org; jlovato@kitcarson.com; jfeole@soltage.com;

jherrera@socorroelectric.com; jrmontoya@santafecountynm.gov;

joshmadalena@gmail.com; Jsmith.watsonlawlc@gmail.com; joycebogosian@gmail.com;

Judith.Amer@state.nm.us; Judith.parsons@epelectric.com;

jhbnm1@gmail.com; jbroggi@hollandhart.com; jvanlith@pnw-solar.com; j_tackett@wfec.com; Kolson@montand.com; katelyn.hart@gknet.com; katie.coleman@tklaw.com;

Kathleen.Larese@pnmresources.com;

kathy@tewawomenunited.org; kherrmann@stelznerlaw.com; Kellydarshan@gmail.com; kelly@thegouldlawfirm.com;

Krader@cabq.gov; b1family@icloud.com;

ken.wilson@westernresources.org; kgroenewold@nmelectric.coop; kevin@communitysolaraccess.org;

kim.legant@gmail.com; KAT@jpollockinc.com; kristenp@ips-solar.com;

Kyle.j.smith124.civ@mail.mil; kyle.a.reddell@xcelenergy.com;

lance@fecnm.org;

lb@tahoeconomics.com;

laura.rodriguez@epelectric.com; lvanoni@sandiapueblo.nsn.us; mnewell@newelllawnm.com; Leah Boone LBoone@cvecoop.org;

Les Montoya lmontoya@morasanmiguel.coop; Les Rubin financedirector@picurispueblo.org; Linda Hudgins Linda.l.hudgins@xcelenergy.com; Linda.pleasant@epelectric.com; Linda Pleasant Llarocque@las-cruces.org; Lisa LaRoque

Lisa Mattson lmattson@pivotenergy.net; Lisa Tormoen Hickey lisahickey@newlawgroup.com;

Liz Stefanics lstefanics@msn.com; Lortega@cdec.coop; Luis Ortega Luis Reyes lreyes@kitcarson.com; M. Poche mpoche@kitcarson.com; madeline.gould@arcadia.com; Madeline Gould

mfield@strategen.com; Maggie Field scott.kirk.2@us.af.mil; Maj Scott Kirk Maj. Andrew J. Unsicker Andrew.Unsicker@us.af.mil;

mmiller@soltage.com; Marc Miller Marcia B. Driggers marcyd@las-cruces.org; Margie Tatro mltatro@earthlink.net;

Mariel Nanasi Mariel@seedsbeneaththesnow.com; Mario A. Contreras Mario.a.contreras@xcelenergy.com;

Mario A. Romero marior@ote-coop.com; mario.atencio@dine-care.org; Mario Atencio Marissa Naranjo mnaranjo@indianpueblo.org; Mark Faulkenbury M Faulkenberry@wfec.com; Mark Fenton Mark.Fenton@pnm.com; mark.gaiser@state.nm.us; Mark Gaiser

Marc.Tupler@state.nm.us; Mark Walker Mark.a.walker@xcelenergy.com;

Marta Tomic marta@votesolar.org;

Mark Tupler

Matt McDonnell mmcdonnell@strategen.com; Matthew Collins matthew.collins@cnmec.org; Matthew Dunne Mdunne337@gmail.com

Matthew Hagan Matthew.M.Hagan@XcelEnergy.com; Matthew Jaramillo Matthew.Jaramillo@pnmresources.com; Matthew Loftus matthew.p.loftus@xcelenergy.com; Matthew Miller Matthew.miller@sierraclub.org; Maureen Reno mreno@reno-energy.com;

Mayane Barudin mayane@affordable-solar.com; Mayor Trujillo mayortrujillo@cityofanthonynm.org;

Melanie Kenderdine makenderdine@energyfuturesinitiative.org;

Melinda Smith smithm@igc.org;

Melissa Trevino@oxy.com; Melissa Trevino Merrie Lee Soules mlsoules@hotmail.com: Michael C. Smith michaelc.smith@state.nm.us;

Michael D'Antonio michael.a.d'antonio@xcelenergy.com; Michael I. Garcia Michael J. Moffett Michael McCord Michael P. Gorman Michael Ropp Michelle Rosier Mike Loftin Mike McInnes Milo Chavez

Mora-San Miguel Electric Mr. Thomas Jernigan Ms. Ebony Payton Muriel Carpenter Nadine Varela Nancy Burns Nann M. Winter Nathan Duran Navopache Electric

Neil Burbure Nelson Goodin Nicholas Koluncich Nicole Jaramillo Nikolas Stoffel

NMSU General Counsel Northern Rio Arriba Electric

Olga Lavrova Omni Warner Ona Porter

Otero County Electric

Pat O'Connell Pat Woods

Patricia (Pat) Walsh Patricia Griego

Patricia Roybal Caballero

Patrick Dalseth Patrick Dalseth Patrick McGrath

Pau1

Paul Biderman Paul Gibson Paulina Olivas

Peggy Martinez-Rael

Perry Robinson Peter Auh Peter Gould

Peter J. Gould

MikGarcia@bernco.gov; mmoffett@cmtisantafe.com;

michael@fecnm.org;

mgorman@consultbai.com;

meropp@sandia.gov;

Michelle.rosier@state.mn.us; mloftin@homewise.org; mmcinnes@tristategt.org; milo.chavez@state.nm.us; lwiggins@wwwlaw.us;

Thomas.Jernigan.3@us.af.mil; Ebony.Payton.ctr@us.af.mil; murielcarpenter@yahoo.com; nvarela@kitcarson.com;

Nancy.Burns@epelectric.com; nwinter@stelznerlaw.com; nduran@jemezcoop.org; ggouker@navopache.org;

neil.burbure@galeheaddev.com; nelsong@donaanacounty.org; nkoluncich@slo.state.nm.us; nicole@earthcarenm.org; nsstoffel@hollandhart.com; gencounsel@nmsu.edu; nora@noraelectric.org; olavrova@nmsu.edu; Omni.Warner@pnm.com; Ona@Prosperityworks.net; s.t.overstreet.law@gmail.com;

pat.oconnell@westernresources.org;

pat.woods@nmlegis.gov; patricia.walsh@state.nm.us; Patricia.griego@epelectric.com; patriciafornm@gmail.com; pdalseth@sunvest.com; patrickd@sunvest.com; pmcgrath@soltage.com; paul@cocleanenergyfund.com; biderman429@gmail.com:

paul@cocleanenergyfund.com; biderman429@gmail.com; paul@retakeourdemocracy.org; paulina@solarsmartliving.com; Peggy.Martinez-Rael@state.nm.us; Perry.Robinson@urenco.com;

pauh@abcwua.org; pgouldlaw@gmail.com; peter@thegouldlawfirm.com; Peter Lund peter@nautilussolar.com;
Philip B. Simpson philipbsimpson@comcast.net;
Phillip Oldham phillip.oldham@tklaw.com;
Rachael Lorenzo rlorenzo@slo.state.nm.us;
Rachel Bird rbird@borregosolar.com;

Ramona Blaber Ramona.blaber@sierraclub.org;

Randy Massey masseyfarm@vtc.net; Ravi Malhotra ravim@icastusa.org;

Raymond Butler raymond.butler@cnmec.org;
Rebecca Puck Stair stairforsenate@gmail.com;
Rep. Andrea Romero andrea@andrearomero.com;
Ricardo Gonzales rico.gonzales@epelectric.com;
Richard Alvidrez ralvidrez@mstlaw.com;

Richard C. Mertz rcmertz7@outlook.com;
Rick Gilliam Rick@votesolar.org;
Rikki Seguin rikki@interwest.org;
Robert Castillo rcastillo@cdec.coop;

Robert Romero robertpromero@gmail.com; Roberto Favela roberto.favela@epelectric.com; Rod Sgrignoli rodney.sgrignoli@xcelenergy.com;

Ron Nelson rnelson@strategen.com;

Roosevelt County Electric rcec@rcec.coop;

Russ McKee RMcKee@cvecoop.org;
Russell Fisk Russell.fisk@state.nm.us;
Ruth Sakya Ruth.sakya@xcelenergy.com;
Ryan Anderson Ryan.Anderson@pnm.com;

Ryan Centerwall@affordable-solar.com;

Ryan Fulton ryanf@sunvest.com;

Ryan Jerman Ryan.Jerman@pnmresources.com;

Saif Ismail sismail@cabq.gov;
Sam Lipman saml@icastusa.org;
Sara Birmingham sbirmingham@seia.org;
Sara Gersen sgersen@earthjustice.org;
Sara Valencia sarahe.valencia@state.nm.us;

Satish Ranade sranade@nmsu.edu; Saul J. Ramos sramos@doeal.gov;

Sayuri Yamada sayuri.yamada@pnmresources.com;

Scott Risley srisley@nautilussolar.com;

Siah Correa Hemphill Siah Correa hemphill@gmail.com;

Sierra Electric sierra@secpower.com;

Sireesha Manne sireesha@nmpovertylaw.org;
Sky Stanfield stanfield@smwlaw.com;
Socorro Electric service@socorroelectric.com;
Sonya Mares smares@hinklelawfirm.com;

Sophia Jeffery sophia.midori@gmail.com;

Southwestern Electric gary@alsuplawoffice.com;

Springer Electric dsmith9346@zialink.com;

Stacey Goodwin@pnmresources.com;

Stephanie DzurStephanie@Dzur-Law.com;Stephan Landstephen.land@aes.com;

Steve Michel smichel@westernresources.org;

Steve Newby snewby@zianet.com;

Steve Seelye sseelye@theprimegroupllc.com;

Steven Lunt stevel@dvec.org;

Steven Rymsha steven.rymsha@sunrun.com;

Taiyoko Saidewic Taiyoko@PositiveEnergySolar.com;

Tammy Fiebelkorn tfiebelkorn@swenergy.org;
Tarin Nix tnix@slo.state.nm.us;

Thanh Nguyen tnguyen@strategen.com;
Thomas Moore thom@fecnm.org;

Thorvald A. Nelson tnelson@hollandhart.com;
Tiffany Rivera tiffanyr@nmflb.org;

Tim Dobson tdobson@ad.nmsu.edu;

Timothy Martinez Timothy.Martinez@state.nm.us;
TKLaw office tk.eservice@tklaw.com;
Tam Figure to the following and the following the following and the following the follo

Tom Figart tomf@donaanacounty.org;
Tom Figel tfigel@gridalternatives.org;

Tom Figel tfigel@gridalternatives.org;
Tom Key tkey@epri.com;

Travis Dorr travis.a.dorr@xcelenergy.com;
Travis Sullivan tsullivan@swec-coop.org;

Tri-State Generation and Transmission kreif@tristategt.org;

TSgt Arnold Braxton Arnold.Braxton@us.af.mil;
TSgt Ryan Moore Ryan.Moore.5@us.af.mil;

Ty Pollard william.pollard@epelectric.com;

Vidal Barelavbarela@morasanmiguel.coop;Vincent Martinezvmartinez@tristategt.org;Wade Nelsonwnelson@cvecoop.org;

Ward McCartney wardmccartney@gmail.com;
Wayne Soza wayne.soza@epelectric.com;

Western Farmers Electric matt.caves@wfec.com;

Will DuBois Will.w.dubois@xcelenergy.com;

William A. Grant william.a.grant@xcelenergy.com; William P. Templeman wtempleman@cmtisantafe.com;

Zoe Lees zoe.e.lees@xcelenergy.com; Reuben Grandon reuben@greenkeysolar.com;

Hunter Strader hunter@greenkeysolar.com;
Jillian Hansen jillian.hansen@us-solar.com;

David Watts

david.watts@us-solar.com;

Ross Abbey

ross.abbey@us-solar.com;

Erica Forsman erica.forsman@us-solar.com;
Keegan King keegan@atsaya.com;
Kelly Roache kelly@renewprop.com;

Hannah Grover hannah@nmpoliticalreport.com;
Nicole Affleck nicole.affleck@ccrenew.com;
Matthew Bowers matthew.bowers@ccrenew.com;
Scott Novack scott.novack@ccrenew.com;
Matt Kozey matt.kozey@ccrenew.com;

Armando Gaetaniello armando@neighborhoodsun.solar; Annie Jung annie.jung@syncarpha.com;

Jesse Cutaia jesse.cutaia@communityenergyinc.com;

Zac Gordon

Zgordon@emienergy.com;

Jay Conroy

Jeague González

Brit Gibson

Brit Gibson

Brit Gonzales

Kimberli Roth

Adam Harper

Jeonroy@emienergy.com;

teague@nmpovertylaw.org;

bgibson@pivotenergy.net;

rico.gonzales@epelectric.com;

kimberlir@osceolaenergy.com;

adamh@osceolaenergy.com;

Jeff Taylor jeff@somos.solar;

Jesse Cutaia jesse.cutaia@communityenergyinc.com;

Mike Atkinson mike@syncarpha.com;
Gideon Elliot gelliot@nmag.gov;
Keven Gedko kgedko@nmag.gov;
Sydnee Wright swright@nmag.gov;

Robert Lundin

robert.lundin@state.nm.us;

Debaura James

debauraperu@gmail.com;

John Karamanlis

john.karamanlis@edf-re.com;

Jacob Schlesinger

jschlesinger@keyesfox.com;

lewing@keyesfox.com;

John Winscott

john.winscott@state.nm.us;

Shawn Queenan shawn.queenan@kimmeridge.com; Enda Grogan enda.grogan@sulus-solar.com;

DATED this 15th day of October, 2021.

NEW MEXICO PUBLIC REGULATION COMMISSION

/s/ Isaac Sullivan-Leshin, electronically signed

Isaac Sullivan-Leshin, Paralegal Isaac.sullivan-leshin@state.nm.us